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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
IN RE CICELY NICOLE BREWSTER, | Case No. 5:13-cv-505-ODW
Debtor. Bankruptcy Case No. 6:12-bk-33284-D
Adversary Case N®:12-ap-1442-DS
CICELY NICOLE BREWSTER, ORDER
Appellant,
V.

DEUTSCHE BANK NAT'L TRUST CO.
AS TRUSTEE FOR AMERICAN HOMH
I\/IIORTGAGE ASSETSTRUST 2007-1, et
al.,

Appellees.

. INTRODUCTION
Appellant Cicely Nicole Brewster appls to this Court an order from th
bankruptcy court dismissing her Adversary Comgplaimder Federal Rule o

Bankruptcy Procedure 7012(b) and Federal Rafle€Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). A$

discussed herein, the Co&EFIRM S the judgment below.
II. JURISDICTION
This Court has jurisdiction to hear apjgefor judgments, orders, and decrg

entered in intra-district bankruptcy easreferred under 28 U.S.C. § 157. 28 U.S.

8§ 158. The judgment in this adversarypgeeding is final, and was entered in

pwster et al v. Deutsche Bank National Trust Company et al Dod.
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bankruptcy proceeding within this DistrictAccordingly, the judgment is appealab
to this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 158.
1. BACKGROUND

On October 30, 2006, Appellant CigelNicole Brewster refinanced the

mortgage to her Moreno Valley propernyith a loan for $384,750, in favor g
American Brokers Conduit. (Appellees’ Bt.) This loan was secured through
promissory note, and Brewster signed a Dekdrust for the property to Americal
Brokers Conduit. I1d.) On August 1, 2011, this retwas transferred to Deutscl
Bank National Trust Co., acting as trustee tfee Securitized Trust American Hon
Mortgage Assets Series 2007-1d. (at 3.) Brewster defdted on the loan and o
August 16, 2011, a Notice of Default was recorded against the propédty. The
property was eventually sold at adolosure sale on June 7, 20181.)(

In Brewster’'s bankruptcy proceedingshe filed an Adversary Complaint @
November 5, 2012, against Appelledke@ng seven state-law claims, along wi
federal claims for violations under theuim in Lending Act (“TILA”) and the Rea
Estate Settlement Procedures Act ($HA”), and rescissiounder TILA. The
bankruptcy court dismissed tifiederal claims with prejudicend declined to exercis
jurisdiction over the remaining statealalaims. This appeal followed.

V. ISSUESON APPEAL

Liberally construing the issues on appefewster appeals to this Court
review (1) the dismissal of the claim fdamages under TILA; (2) the dismissal of {
claim for damages under RESPA; (3) the dssal of the claim for rescission und
TILA; (4) the dismissal of théederal claims without leavi® amend; (5) the dismissg
of the state-law claims; and (6) the dismissiaéll claims with respect to the abse
defendant American Brokers Conduit.

V. LEGAL STANDARD
A bankruptcy court’s legal conclusiorsse reviewed de novo and its factu

findings are reviewed for clear erroin re Hamada 291 F.3d 645, 649 (9th Cir.
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2002). A court’s factual determination ™early erroneous if it is illogical o
implausible, or if it lacks “support in infences that may be drawn from facts in {
record.” United States v. Hinksprb85 F.3d 1247, 1261 9 Cir. 2009) (en banc
(quotingAnderson v. City of Bessemédi70 U.S. 564, 577 (1985)).

Dismissal for failure to state a claim aslegal conclusion and is reviewed
novo. Cervantes v. Countrywide Home Loans, 656 F.3d 1034, 1040 (9th Ci
2011). The application of statutes of liations is also a legal conclusion and
reviewed de novo, but the detanation of equitable tollings reviewed for abuse o
discretion. Huynh v. Chase Manhattan Baa65 F.3d 992, 1003 (9th Cir. 2006).

Denying leave to amend a complaint isiesved for an abuse of discretion.

Gompper v. VISX, Inc298 F.3d 893, 898 (9th Cir. 2002). Similarly, the decisiol
dismiss supplemental claims once the fedela@ims have been dismissed is review
for an abuse of discretionlritchler v. County of Lake358 F.3d 1150, 1153 (9th Ci
2004).
VI. DISCUSSION

The Court addresses each of Brewstsix grounds for appeal in turn.
A. TILA violations

An action for damages under TILA is subject to a one-year statut
limitations. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1640(e). A TILAiolation occurs, and the statute
limitations begins to run, at the time the loan documents are sigri&dg V.
California, 784 F.2d 910, 915 (9th €Ci1986). Neverthelesshe Ninth Circuit has
held that for damages, TILA's remedplirpose may, in appropriate circumstang
permit equitable tolling to suspend theatste of limitations “until the borrowe
discovers or had reasonablpportunity to discover the fua or nondisclosures thg
form the basis of the TILA action.1d. However, equitable tolling focuses primari
on a plaintiff's excusablenegligence; it “does not apply wh a late filing is due tc
[the plaintiff's] failure to exercise due diligence in preserving his legal righ
Hensley v. United StateS31 F.3d 1052, 1058 (9th Cir. 2008).
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The one-year statute of limitations forLN bars Brewster’s claim because

began to run in 2006, the time the lodocuments were signed. Her claim for

damages is thus time-barred as a matteftaw unless she can allege facts il
equitably tolled the statute of limitations.
Brewster argues that the statute ahitations is equitably tolled becaus

Appellees failed to make theequired disclosures. Buhis argument fails. Mere

allegations of TILA violations do not tothe statute and nothing prevented her fr
comparing her loan contract and the inhitidssclosures with TILA's statutory an

regulatory requirementsSee Hubbard v. Fidelity Fed. BarklL F.3d 75, 79 (9th Cin,

1996). Brewster presented no facts tendestrate why the statute of limitatior

should be equitably tolled. The bankruptoyud was therefore within its discretion {

rule that equitable tolling did not applya that the alleged TILA violations wer
time-barred.

A claim for rescission under TILA isubject to a three-year statute
limitations, calculated from the date adrsummation of the transaction or upon 1
sale of the property, whickier occurs first. 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f). Equitable tolli
does not apply to rescission claims under TIlMays v. U.S. Bank Nat'l. Ass;mo.
1:09-CV-1586 AWI SMS, 2010 WL 318537, & (E.D. Cal. Jan. 20, 2010¥ee
King, 784 F.2d at 913 (9th Cir. 1986). Brearss claim for res@sion is barred by th¢
statute of limitations because it beganrtm in 2006, when she refinanced I
mortgage. Thus, the bankruptcy court pripeoncluded that her rescission clai
was time-barred.

B. RESPA violations

RESPA creates a private right of actifam only three types of wrongful acts:

(1) payment of a kickback and unearned fé®sreal estate settlement services,
U.S.C. § 2607(a), (b); (2) requiring a buyer te astitle insurer selected by the sell
12 U.S.C. § 2608(b); and (3) the failure bjoan servicer to give proper notice of
transfer of servicing rightsr to respond to a qualifiewritten request (“QWR”) for
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information about the loan, 12 U.S.C. § 2605@liver v. U.S. Bank, N.ANo. 11—
CV-04300-LHK, 2012 WL 2376677, at *6 @l Cal. June 22, 2012). Claim
brought under § 2607 or § 2608 are subjea tme-year statute of limitations, whi
claims brought under § 2605 are subject thrae-year statute of limitations, each
which begins to run when theolation occurs. 12 U.S.C. § 2614.

It is unclear which type of wrongful aBrewster pleads in her Complaint. S
appears to allege two wrongful acts:

The interest and income that Defendahave gained is disproportionate
to the situation Plaintiff finds hergeh due directly to Defendant’sic|
failure to disclose that they will gaa financial benefit while Plaintiff
suffers financially as a result of the loan product sold to Plaintiff. (Am.
Compl. 1 119.)

and

Defendants violated RESPA besa the payments between the
Defendants were misleading and destyme create a windfall. These
actions were deceptive, fraudul[,] and self-serving.Id. § 121.)

These RESPA allegations do not fall witline of the three types of wrongf
acts articulated above and thus, she failstabe a claim under RESPA. And ever
the Court construes hatlegations to fall within one dhe three types, the statute
limitations would bar her claim becauseer allegations concern wrongful ag
committed at the origination of the loan in 2006.

The Court notes that in her appeal fhrigrewster mentions Appellees’ failur
to respond to two QWRs that were allegesiyt to the original trustee and substit
trustee in March and May 2012, respectiveBut this was raised for the first time |
Brewster's Opposition to the Motion to Diga. Brewster’s allegations concernii
Defendants’ failure to responid her QWRs were not in her pleadings, and there
will be disregarded. A complaint mudtege sufficient underlying facts to provid
fair notice and enable the defendamtdefend itself effectively.Starr v. Baca 652
F.3d 1202, 1216 (9th Cir. 2011). The Cowsrtaware that Brewst is representing

S
e
of

e
ute
n
g
fore
e




© 00 N oo o b~ w N e

N NN N N NN NDNEPR B P P P P P PP
© N o 00 W N P O © 0 N O 0o M W N P O

herself in this matter, but even if tli&urt construes her Adversary Complaint
include these allegations, her claim fails.

RESPA places a duty on loan servicers to respond to borrower inquiries re
to information about the borrower's loan. U5.C. § 2605(e). This duty is triggeré

when the servicer receives a QWR franborrower. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(A).

After receiving a QWR, a servicer muskaowledge its receipt mhin five days and
respond to the inquiries within thirty days2 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1), (2). For purpos
of RESPA, a QWR is defined as: a wniteorrespondence, other than notice o
payment coupon or other yaent medium supplied by the servicer, that
(i) includes, or otherwise enables the servitoeidentify, the name and account of t
borrower; and (ii) includes a statement o tleasons for the belief of the borrower,
the extent applicable, that the account isiror or provides suffient detail to the
servicer regarding other informati sought by the borrower. 12 U.S.
8 2605(e)(1)(B).

Here, Brewster's two substantivelidentical QWRs requests 45 item
everything from an accounting of how muchoney is owed to copies of th

prospectus offered to investors in thecGritized Trust Amecan Home Mortgage

Assets Series 2007-1. (Opp’n to Not. of Maxtd Mot. to Dismiss, Exs. C, D.) The
all-encompassing requests for documermiisd records are not what RESH
contemplates.

Under RESPA, “[tlhe term ‘servicingheans receiving any scheduled perio
payments from a borrower pursuant to teems of any loan . . . and making t
payments of principal and interest andcclswther payments with respect to t
amounts received from the borrower as maydupiired pursuant to the terms of t
loan.” 12 U.S.C. § 2605(i)(3). On théhale, Brewster's QWRs request docume
relating to the original loan transaction atedsubsequent historgnd generally see
information on the validity of the loan drthe underlying documents. Such requs
do not fall within the confines of RESPAConsumer Solutions REO, LLC v. Hiller
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658 F. Supp. 2d 1002, 1014.0N Cal. 2009) (dismissing ¢hplaintiffs RESPA claim
with prejudice after observing that theguerement “[tlhat a QW must address th

servicing of the loan, and not its validitis borne out by the fact that § 2605(e)

expressly imposes a duty upon the loaniseryand not the owner of the loan.”).
Moreover, 8 2605 only requires loamseers to respond to a proper QWR
correcting the account discrepancy, explagnivhy the account is correct, or if tf
information is unavailableby providing contact information for someone who g
assist the borrower with her inquiry. 12 WS88 2605(e)(2)(A)—(C). Thus, even
Brewster properly plead Defendants’ faduto respond to her two QWRSs, the
QWRs request information exceeding teeope of informatin Defendants werg
required to provide in respsa. Therefore, the Cournfis no error in the bankruptc
court’s dismissal of this claim.
C. Leavetoamend
Denying leave to amend is ordinaritymproper unless it is clear that th
complaint could not be sad by any amendment.Livid Holdings Ltd. v. Salomoy
Smith Barney, In¢c416 F.3d 940, 946 (9th Cir. 2005). But discretion to deny leay
amend is particularly broad where a ptdf has previously filed an amende
complaint. Miller v. Yokohama Tire Corp358 F.3d 616, 622 (9th Cir. 2004).
Brewster was given sevérapportunities to articulate facts to support |
claims, including equitable tolling, but wainable to do so. The Court cannot
how she can save her claims from thatige of limitations. Accordingly, thg
bankruptcy court was within its discretidenying leave to ameriter federal claims.
D. Supplemental jurisdiction of state-law claims
A court may decline supplemental goliction over state claims once it h

dismissed the federal claims over whithhad original jurisdiction. 28 U.S.Q.
8 1367(c)(3);Carlsbad Tech., Inc. v. HIF Bio, In&556 U.S. 635, 639 (2009). Sin¢

the federal claims were dismissed, the baptay court did not abuse its discretion
declining to exercise supplemental jurcttbn over Brewster’s state-law claims.
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E. Dismissal of an absent Defendant

Finally, the bankruptcy court did notreby sua sponte dismissing Brewste
Complaint against American Brokers ConduiA District Court may properly on its
own motion dismiss an action as to thdedeants who have not moved to dism
where such defendants are in a position smbdahat of moving defendants or whe
claims against such defendants are integrally relateSilverton v. Dep’t of the
Treasury 644 F.2d 1341, 1345 (9th Cir. 1981Although American Brokers Condu
did not move to dismiss the Complaint, trenkruptcy court’s decision to dismiss t
Complaint against all Defendants, inclogi American Brokers Conduit, “was ng
arbitrary, capricious nor an abuse of detion, but, on the contrary, the decision W
fully supported by substéial relevant evidence.ld. American Brokers Conduit wa|
in a position similar to the moving Defendantgldhe claims were integrally relate
Accordingly, the bankruptcy court’s dismissd the entire Complaint as to Americg
Brokers Conduit was not improper.

VII. DISPOSITION
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Accordingly, for the reasons discudsabove, the judgment of the bankruptcy

court isAFFIRMED.
IT ISSO ORDERED.
September 9, 2013
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OTISD. WRIGHT, II
UNITED STATESBISTRICT JUDGE




